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IN THE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

- UNITED STATESOF AMERICA - CRIMINAL NO. /(90"' ZS
v S DATE FILED: January 21,2016
DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSON, VIOLATIONS: _ _
- a/k/a “Dirt” ' 18 U.S.C. § 371 (conspiracy — 1 count)
a/k/a “Frank White,” : 18 U.S.C. § 922(a)(1)(A) (dealing in
a/k/a “Derrick Thomas,” firearms without a license — 1 count) .
OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT, o 18 U.S.C. § 924(n) (interstate travel in
a/k/a“0,” furtherance of dealing in firearms

SEKOU MALIEK DAVENPORT : -without a license — 3 counts)

26 U.S.C. § 5861(d)(possession of an
unregistered short-barreled rifle —

1 count) -

18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1) (possession of a
firearm by a convicted felon - 4 counts)
18 U.S.C. § 2 (aiding and abetting).
Notice of forfeiture

INDICTMENT

" COUNT ONE
'THE GRAND JURY CHARGES THAT:
At all times material to this indilctment:- - _ |
. Defendant DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSON was not icenséd to deal in
| firearms under the broviéions of Chaptcr 44 Title 18, 'Unitéd States Code.
| 2. Defendant OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT was not licensed to deal in’

firearms under the provisions of Chapter 44, Title 18, Umtcd States Code.
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3. Defendaﬁt_s OMAR T. DAVENPORT and his bfother, Sekou Maliek
Davenport, charged elsewhere in this indictment, lived at a residence in the 5500 block of
Webster Street, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania (“the Webster Street residence™).
4, “The Buyer,” known to the grand jury, was a convicted felon and
- prohibited by law from receiving or possessing firearms.
5. From on or about at least April 1, 2015, to on or about January 13, 2016,
in Philadelphia, in the Eastern District of Pennsylvania, and elsewhere, defendants
DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSON,
a/k/a/ “Dirt,” -
a/k/a “Frank White,”
a/k/a “Derrick Thomas,” and
OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT,
- a/k/a/ “0,”
conspired and agreed, together and with others known and unknown to the grand jury, to commit
an offense against the United States, that is, to willfully engage in the business of dealing in
firearms without being licensed to do so under the brovisions of Chapter 44, Title 18, United

States Code, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 922(.51)(1)(A) and

924(a)(1)(D).
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MANNER AND MEANS
- It was part of the conspirﬁcy that:
-6. Defendants DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSON and OMAR TARIK
DAVENPORT acquired numerous firearms by vz_irious illegai means in. the State of Georgia, and |
in the Commonwealth of Pennéylvanié. | _
| 7. ~ Defendant DARIEN. MONTAE THOMPSCN and OMAR TARIK
DAVENPORT n‘ansféfred posseséion of some of these illegally-ébtained firearms to defendant
| SEKOU MALIEK DAVENPORT, chargéd elsewhere in this indictment, so that he coul.d
| ill'egalil}'f_sell them, -xvljjle_kéeping posscs-s.ion of tﬁe.others so that they could illegally sell them.
| 8. Defendants DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSON and OMAR TARIK
- DAVENPORT transported, ana m'ad-e arrangem'cnts. to have other persons unknown to the grand
jury transport., numerous firearms from the State of Georgia to Philadelphia, Pennsylvania so that
“the ﬁr_earms could be sold illegally. | |
9. Defendants DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSOI%T_ and OMAR TARIK
DAVENPORT_neg’otiatéd the sale ;Jf numerous firearms to ‘fT_hé Buyér,” known to the grand
-jury, and two undercqver ATF Task Force Officers U Cl énd UC2) known to the Qand Jury.
0. Defondants DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSON and OMAR TARIK
DAVENPORT.used the Wet;stcr Street residence of defendants OMAR TARIK DAVENPC;RT
" and SEKOU MALIEK DAVENPORT, and the-émrounding area, as the location for multiplé

unlawfui ﬁrgam'l sales.
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OVERT ACTS
B In furtherance of the conspifacy and to accomplish its objécts, defendants
DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSON and OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT committeo the following-
oveﬁ acts, among othors, in the Eastern District of Pennsylvania and elsewhere:
On or about April 1,2015:
1. | Defendant DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSON engaged in a text message
“exchange with The Buyer, during which defendant THOMPSON.offorec-l three semiautomatic
pistols, that is, a 9mm, a .45 céhber’, and a .380 caliber, for sale to The Buyer for $1800.
Defendaot- THOMPSON also sent photographs of the firearms to The Buyer via text message.
2. -Defendant DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSON engaged in a |
recofded telephone call and text message exchange-with The Bulyer, during ofhich defendant
THOMPSON informed The Buyer that defendant OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT still had all
four firearms at his residence, and provided The Buyer with dofendont OMAR TARIK
DAVENPORT’S telephone nhmber'.
3. Defendant OMAR TARIK DAV ENPORT engaged in a recorded
telephone call and text message oxchange with The Buyer, during which defendant OMAR
. TARIK DAVENPORT informed The Buyer that defendant OMAR .TAR]KI DAVENPORT was
at the Webster Street fesidence; and that The Buyer should come to 55" and Webster Stfeets to
conduct the firearms transaction. Defendant OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT also sent a
photograph of the two .380 caliber firearms that he had for sale to The Buyer via text message..
Defendant OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT later sent a text message to The Buyer informing The

Buyer that the firearms had all been sold.
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On or about May 30, 2015:
4. Defeﬁdant DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSON sent a text message to The
~ Buyer, which included photographs of two handguns that defendant THOMPSON had for sale.
" 5. Defendant DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSON had a recorded telephone .
conversation-with The Buyer, during which defendant THOMPSON offered three firearmsfor sale_
for $1400 Defendant THOMPSON directed The Buyer to meet h1m at21% and Morrls Streets in

Ph]ladelphja _ _

6. Defendant DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSON met ‘.‘The Buyer” and UC1
at 2137 Morris Street, in Phjledelphia, aﬂd sold The Buyer and UC1 (1) a Glock, Model 22, .40
caliber semiaetomatic pistol, serial number AAHE785; (2) e. Harfington and Richardson, Meelel
733, .32 e_aliber.revolver, eeria] number BB01637S; and (3) a Phoenix Arms, Model HP22A, 22
LR caliber selniautomatic pistel, serial number 4313256 for $1400. | |

On or about July 15, 2015: - |

7. Defendant DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSON exchanged text messages
with The Buyer, during which defendant THOMPSON offered to sell The Beyer two firearms
*for $2000. |

8. Defendant DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSON had a recorded telephone
conversation with The Buyer, during which defendant THOMPS ON offereci to sell The Buyer
one firearm for $900. _ |

9. | Outside of the Webster Street fesidenee, defendaﬂt DARIEN MONTAE
THOMPSON sold The Buyer and UC1 a J.ime'nez-Al'ms INC., Model J.A. NIN E, 9mm |

semiautomatic pistol, serial number 171712, as well as six live rounds of 9mm caliber
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ammunition for $900. This handgun was _reported stolen t‘rorﬁ a resident of Hi ne_svil le; Georgia in
Jnly 2015. Defendant THOMPSON told The Buyer and UC1 that he planned to have more guns
te sel l,' but his house was “raided” and he losta 357, a shotgun, and all of his “work.” .
.Onor about August 10, 2015: | |

10. Defendant DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSON had a recorded telephone
and monitored social medla conversatlon wnth The Buyer durmg which defendant THOMPSON '
offered to sell The Buyer two firearms for $1200.
| | 11. Outs1de of the Webster St1 eet residence, defendant DARIEN MONTAE
o THOMPSON sold The Buyer and UC1 (1) a Taurus, Model 82, 38 Special callber revolver,
serial number RA605426 and 2)a Hoplcms and Allen revolver with unknown model, caliber and
serial n_umber, an antique gun that does not qualifly' as a firearm within the-nleaning of federal
law, for $1200.

On or about August 1 1,2015:

12. Outs1de of the Webster Street remdence defendant DARIEN MONTAE
THOMPSON sold The' Buyer and UC1 (1) a Jinlenez Arms INC., Model_ JA. NINE, 9mm
semiautomatic pistol, serial nunlber 193538, and (2) a Rdger, Model Sectu‘ity Six, .357 caliberl
revolver, serial number 157873606 fe_'r $1400: The J imene.z‘ handgun was reported stolen from ;
resident of Hinesv_ille, Georgia in or about September 2014. | .

- On or about Augnst i3, 2015:

13. | Defendant DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSON had a recorded telebhone |

conversati on with The Buyer, during which defendant THOMPSON offered to setl The Bnyer a

9mm senliautmnatic pistol and a .357 caliber revolver for $1400.



Case 2:16-cr-00023-MMB  Document 8 Filed 01/21/16 Page 7 of 26

14, Outside of the Webster Strcet resrdence defendant DARIEN MONTAE
' THOMPSON sold The Buyer and UC1 (1) an SCCY, Model CPX-2, 9mm semlautomatlc plstol |
serial number 047066, and (2) a Taurus, Model 66 .357 caliber revolver serial number
1C124681 for $1400. Defendant THOMPSON told The Buyer and UCI that he and defendant -
OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT were partners, and that defendant OMAR TARJK
DAVENPORT would hold any firearms untll defendant THOMPSON came back up to
Philadr:lplﬁq. |
' On or about August 24, 2015:
15.  Defendant DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSON sent a ph_otog’rap-h of four
firearms r)ffered for sale to The Buyer in a text message.—l
- 16. Defendant.DARIE'N MONTAE THOMPSON had a te]ephr)ne
' conversation with The Buyer and UCI, during which Qéfendanr THOMPSON agréed— to the-
purchase price for the.ﬁrez.mns as $390_0. - | |
17. - Outside of the Webster Street residence, defendants DARIEN MONTAE
| THOMPSON and OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT sold The Buyer and UCI (1) a Romann!Cuglr
Model WASR 10/63KR, ?'.62){3 9mm caliber rifle, serial number RG94131, (2) a Smith & |
Wessoﬁ, Model SW40VE, .40 caliber semiautomatic p_ist‘oL seriaT nurnbér OSP33 06, (35 a Ruger,
'_ Model P94DAO, 9mm semiautomatic pistol, serial number '308-22001, lr)aded wirh one liye
9mm round in the chamber and foﬁr_livr: 9mm.rounds in the magazine, (4)_ a Glock, Model 23,
.40 caliber semiautomatic pistol, sériaT number XKG789, and a rifle magazine loaded with
nineteen live rounds of 7.62x39mm caliber ammuniﬁon, eleven live rounds of .40 caliber

ammunition, five live rounds of 9mm ammunition for $3900. The Ruger handgun was reported
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stolen from a resident of Hinesville, Georgia in or about April 2014. | The Glock handgun' was
reported stolen from a resident of Lﬁdowi_ci, Georgia in or about J uné 2015.
18. - During the.ﬁrearms transaction, defendant DARTEN MONTAE
' THOMPSON told UC1 that he had gone “down there” (Georgla) to get the firearms, and then
brought them back up to Phlladelplua to sell them.
On or about Septembgr 22, 2015:
19.  Defendant DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSON engaged in a text message |
exchange withUCl, during which defendant THOMPSON informed UCI that defendant
THOMPSON had five firearms for sale for $3000. Defendaﬁt THO.MPSON' also éent a
photograph of the five ﬁrearms-to UCI via text message. |
On of about Septembér 23,2015: _
20.  Defendant DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSON ha;d a telephone
conversation with UC1, during which defendant THOMPSON infofmed. UC]1 that defendant
' THOMPSON had five firearms for sale, and would meet UC]I at thé Webster Street residence to
sell them to UCI. |
21. Outside of the Webster Street residence, defendant DA'RII_EN MONTAE
THOMPSON solfi UCl1 al_ld UC2(1)a Tlaurus, Model: PT] 11, 9h‘1m Pistol, Serial Number
TVF11396, (2)aCZ, Mbdel: CZ75 P-07 Duty, 9mm Pistol, Seriél Number B115093, (3) éSrm'th
& Wesson, Model: 442, .38 caliber spééial revolver, Scrial Number DBZ2659, (4) a Smith &
Wesson, Model: 1905, .38 caliber special revolver, Serial Number 180927, and (5) a Hiéh |
Stand’ard, Model: Dduble 'Nine. W-1 OQ, .22 caliber fevolver;' with an obliterated,seriél number, all

for $3,000. The Taurus handgun was reported stolen from a resident of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
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in or about June 2011. The CZ ha‘11dg1m was reported stolen from a resident o_f_' Swétara
Townsﬁip, Pennsylvania in or about June 2011. |

On or about October 1, 2015:

22, Defendant DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSON engaged in a text ﬁcssége
exchz-mge with UC1, during which defendant THOMPSON'infbr_med UCI that defendant
 THOMPSON hadlbne rifle and one .9mm handgun for sale for $2300. Defen_dant- THOMPSON
sent a-photograph of the two ﬁrearmé to UC1 via_t_ext message. | o |

| 23, Outside of the Webster Street residence, defendant DARIEN MONTAE
THOMPSON sold UCI (1) a Ruger, Model: LC9, 9mm caliber Pistol, serial number 32;5-54563
| and (2) a 1954 Izhevsk, Model:. SKS, 7.62x39 caliber rifle, :ser_ial number CCCPO@,I 8 for $-2300. .
Thé Ruger handgu_n was réboﬁéd stolen from a resident of Hinesville, Oeorgia in or about
Sept;ember 2015.
- On or abbut_October 19, 2015:

24, Defendant DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSON engaged in a telephone
conversati;)n ana text mcssaée exchange with UCI, during which defendant THOMPSON
informed UC]1 that defendant THOMPSON héd two firearms for sale for $1100. Defendant
THOMPSON also sent a photograph of the two ﬁreanﬁé to UOl via text message.

On or about October 20, 2015: o

' 25, Defendant DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSON advised UC1 via text -
message thatdefenciant SE_KOU MALIEK DAVENPORT ﬁvould deliver the two firearms to

| UCl1. |

26.  Outside of the Webster Street residence, defendant SEKOU MALIEK_

9
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DAVENPORT sold UC1 (1) a Springﬁéld, Model XD-9, 9mm caliber semiautomatic pistol, serial
number XD141550 and (2) a Beretta, Model 70, 7.65 caliber semiautomatic pistol, serial numbt_:r
A19§45 for $l-] 00. -Dcfendant SEKOU MALIEK DAVENPORT told UCI that he and
defendant DAEIEN MONTAE THOMPSON were “a team” with respect to the selling of
- firearms. | The Springﬁeld handgun was reporfed stolen from a residgnt of Philadelphia,
Pénnsylvanié in or about October 2015. |

On or about November 10, 20 15: |

27.  Defendant DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSON engaged in a text message
~exchange with UCl1, &ming which defendaﬁt THOMPSON informed UC1 that defendant
“"THOMPSON had two firearms for sale fbr $2000. Defendant THOMPSON also sent a
photograph of the two firearms to UCI via text message.

28. Outside of the Webster Street residence, defendant DARIEN MONTAE
THOMPSON sold UC2 (1) a Taurus, Model 627 Tracker; .357 magnum caliber reV(.)lv_er, serial
number ZF399729 and (2) an Intratec, Model Tec-22, .22 caliber semiautomatic pistol, éeria]
number 062563 for $2000; Defendant THOMPSON told UC2 that there are three members of his
“crew,” and that they work as a “te_am.” Defeﬁdant THOMPSON also told UC2 that he would
ha\.fe more guns in about ﬁ\_ré days, after his uncle took him and his brother down to Georgia to
get theiﬁ. Defendant THOMPSON further told UC2 that he had seen two .50 caliber machine
guns that he would be bringing back with him. The Taurus handgun was reported stolen froma
residen_t of Beaufort Count},lf, South Carolina in or about August 2008.

On or about November 21 .and 22,2015:

29. Defendant DARTEN MONTAE THOMPSON engaged in a text message

10
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exchange and telephone conversation with UC1, during which defendant THOMPSON informed
UCI1 that defendant THOMPS ON had two firearms for sale for $1300. Defendant THOMPSON
sent a photograph of the two firearms to UC1 via text message. |

On or about November 23, 2015

30. - Outside of the Webster Street_res_id_enee, oefendant DARJEN MONTAE
_THOM-P SON sold UC 1 and UC2 (1) a.Ta.urus', Model RT140, ._40 caliber semiautomatic pistol,
serial omnber STG43568, and (é) a Ruger, Model Mark 11, .22 caliber semiautomatic pistol, serial ',
number 222-94679 for $1200. T'Ee Taurus handgun was reported stolen from a resident of
Harrisburg, Penosylvania in or about June 2b12.

" On of about January 4, 2016:

31. | Defendant DAR_IEN MONTAE THOMPS ON engaged. in.'a text message
exchange with UC1, and defendants THOMPSON and OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT also |
engaged ina three—way telephone eonversat.lon with UCI , during whxeh defendants
THOMPSON and OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT discussed with UC1 a firearm that they had
for s_ale. Defendant THOMP SON advised UC1 that he was presentl_y in the State_of Georgia,
ano that defendanf DAVENPORT woul'c_l handle the sale of the firearm. Defendant THOMTPSON, :
also sent photographs of the firearm to UCI via text message, and.quoted a price of $3000 for.the -

firearm. |

On or about January 5, 2016

32.  Defendants DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSON and OMAR TARIK
IDAVENPORT engaged in a text message exchange with UC1, during which defendants

THOMPSON and OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT discussed with UC1 the firearm that they had

11
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for sale. Defendant OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT sent to UC1 via text mes'sage the -same -
photographs of the firearm that defendant THOMPSON had sent to UCI the previous day, and -
UCI and defendant OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT negotiated the purchase price of the firearm
_ -to $2500.

33. Defendant OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT engaged ina recorded
telephone call with UCl during whlch defendant OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT advlsed UCl
that he was going to lower the firearm prices he was chargmg UCI1 for fl.lture'purchases, and that
if UC1 was willing to “take trips” in the future with defendant OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT,
the prices would be even lower. Defendant-OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT further told UC1
that he had recently fired the firearm Ihe— was selliog to UC_lI that day, that the ﬁreerm came with
two “clips,” and that defendant OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT would show UC1 how to operate
the ﬁ-reafr’n. |

34. .Outsi.de of ;he-'Webster- Street residehoe defendant OMAR TARIK

_DAVENPORT sold UCI an Israel Military Industrles (I M.L), UZI Model 45, 9mm caliber rifle,
serial number 005136, along with 30 and 50-round magazmes for the firearm for $2500 The
firearm has a barrel that was less than 16 mches_ (approximately 10.5 1hches) in 1ength, making it
a short-barreled rifle for federal ﬁrearms classification purposes.

On or about Janu_ary 9 and 10, 2016:

35.  Defendant DARPEN MONTAE THOMPSON engaged in a text message

“exchange with UC1, during which defendant ‘THOMPSON informed UC1 that defendant
THOMP_SON presently had “d SKS with a. 50 and a Mae 11” for sele. IDefehdant THOMPSON

sent photographs of five firearms to ._UCI via text message, and told UC] that the firearms were

12
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with defendant OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT, who was on his way to Philadelphia from the State
of Georgia, where defendant THOMPSON was.then located. |
On or about January 11, 2016:

36.  Defendant OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT engaged in a text message

exchange witﬁ QC], during which defendanf OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT acknéﬁrledged
| .havingjust made a trip. Defendant OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT then quoted a price of $6200
 fora Mac 11, an SKS riﬂe, and a 9mm handgun. Whg:q UCI asked aboﬁt fhe other two guns
offered by defendant THOMPSON, defendant OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT replied, “They
stasfing.l” "Defendant OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT sent UC1 é photograph via text message of
all five of the firearms. Defendant OMAR TARIK DAVENP ORT stated that he “took a crazy
risk” because hf: is on state parole. Défeﬁd@nt OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT then told UC1 _that.
the_price would arop if UC1 took “fhe trip” with him, that hé was “'g-oin'gl back out there next
week,” and that UC1 should let him know if he wants to go as well. Defendant OMAR TARIK

DAVENPORT then agreed to hold the firearms until the morning of Ianuary 12.
37.  Defendant OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT had a recorded telephone -

‘conversation with UC1 , to further discuss the firearms transaction for the next day. When UC1
asked about .pur'chasing all five of the firearms, defendant OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT replied;
“I can’t sell all of them.” Defendant OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT later stated, “I’l_l let them

- jawns go once we come back with some more,” and he set a price of $6400 for four firearms.
On or about January 12, 2016:

38.  Outside of the Webster Street residence, c_lefendant- OMAR TARIK
13 |
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' DAVENPORT sold UC1 and UC2 (1) a Bryco, Model 38, .380 caliber pistol,'serigl number
1251666, (2) a Hi-Point, Model C, 9mm pistol, serial number P031526, (3) a Cobray, Model
Mac-11, unknown caliber, obliterated seriaj number, and (4) a Norinco, Model SKS, 7.62x39
caliber rifle, serial number 703 1064 for $6400. The Bryco handgmi was reported stolen by a -
_' resident of Ludowici, Georgia, in December 2015. | |

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.

14
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© COUNT TWO

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:
' 1. Paragraphs 1 through 4, and 6 through 10, and Overt Acts 1 through 38 of
Count One are incorporated here..

2. At all tinies_material to this indictmen_t, defendant SEKOU MALI_EK .
DAVENPORT was not licensed to deal in firearms under the provisions of Chapter 44, Title 18,
United States Code. - |

3, Beginning on at least April 1, 2015, to on or about January 12, 2016, ih
Philadelphia, in the Eastern District of Pennsylvania, '_and elsewhere, defendants

DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSON,
a/k/a/ “Dirt,”
a/k/a “Frank White,”
a/k/a “Derrick Thomas,”
OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT,
a/k/a/ “0O,” and
SEKOU MALIEK DAVENPORT
willfully engaged in, and aided and abetted engaging in, the business of dealing in firearms without
being licensed to do so under the provisions of Chapter 44, Title 18, United States Code.-

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 922(a)(1)(A) and

924(a)(1)(D) and 2

15
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- COUNT THREE

- THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:
1. Paragraphs 1 through 5 and 7, and Overt Acts 7-9, 1518, 22-23, 27-28, and
31-38 of Count One are incdrporated here.
- 2. Onor about- August 24, 2015, in Philadelphia, in the Eastern District of
Pennsylvania and elsewhere, defendant
DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSON,
a/k/a/ “Dirt,” -
a/k/a “Frank White,”
a/k/a “Derrick Thomas,”
with the intent to engage in conduct that cbnstitutes a violation of Title 18, United States Code,
Section 922(a)(1)(A), that is, dealing in firearms without a license, traveled from the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania to the State of Georgia and back again, to a(;quire and attémpt to
acquire a firearm, that is, a Romarm/ Cugir, Model WASR 10/63 KR, 7.62x39mm caliber rifle, _
serial number RG9413; a Smith & Wesson, Model SW40VE, 40 caliber pistol, serial number DSP
3306; a Ruger, Model P94DAO, 9mm caliber pistol, serial number 308-22001; and a Glock,

Model 23, .40 caliber pistol, serial number XKG789; in furtherance of such purpose.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 924(n).

COUNT FOUR

16
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THE G_RAND‘I JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:
1. Paragraphs 1 through 5 and 7, and Overf Acts 7-9, 15-]8, 22_—23, 27-28, and
31-38 of Count One are incorporated here.
| 2. On or about November 10, 2015, in Philadelphia, in the Eastern District of
" Pennsylvania and _elsewhere, defehdant
.DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSON,
' a/k/a/ “Dirt,” _
a/k/a “Fi‘ank White,”
a/k/a “Derrick Thomas,”
with the intent to engagal in conduct that constifutes a violation of Titl.e 18, United States Code,
Section 922(a)(1)(A), that is, dealing in firearms without a licénsa, traveled from tha :
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania to the Stafe'of Georgia and .bat':k again, to acquire and attempt to
acquire a ﬁreanﬁ,- that is, a Taurus, Model 627 Tracker, 357 magnum caliber pistol, serial number
ZF399729; and an Intratec, Model Tec-22, .22 caliber pistol, serial numbar 062563; in furtherance

of such purpose.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 924(n).

17
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| COUNT FIVE
THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:
I. _Péragra’phs One th.rough Fi-vé and Severll,- and Overt Acts 7-9, 15—1_ 8,22-23,
27-28, and 31-38 of Count One are incorporated here. |
2. Onor abbut'J anuary 12, 201_6, in P}ﬁladelphia, in the Eastern Dis;trict of
- Peﬁnsylvania and elsewhere, defendant. | |

OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT,
alk/a/ “0,”

with the intent to engage in conduct that constitutes a violation of Titic 18, United States Code_;
| Section 922(a)(1)(A), that is, dealing in firearms without a'license,.-tlraveled from the
Commonwedlth of Pennsy_lva’nia to the State of Géorgi'a. and back again, to acqui.re and attempt to
' ﬁcquire a firearm, that is, a Brycﬁ, Model 38, .380 caliber pistol, serial n_umber 125 16I66; a
_Hi-Point, Model _C, 9mm piétdl? serial number P031526; a Cobray, Model Mac-11, unknown
caliber; obliterated serial number; and a Norinco, Model SKS, 7.62x39 caliber rifle, serial number

7031064; in furtherance of such purpose.

~ In violation of Title 18, United States .Codc, Section 924(n).
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COUNT SIX
THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:
Qp or about January 5,-201 6, in Philadelphia, in the Eastern District of
Pennsylvania, defendants
DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSON,
. a/k/a “Dirt,”
a/k/a “Frank White,” _
- a/k/a “Derrick Thomas,” and
OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT,

a/k/a “0,”
knowingly received and possessed, and aided and abetted the receipt and possession of, a firearm,
that is, an Israeli Militéry Industries _(I.M.I;), UZI Model 45, 9mm caliber 1'iﬂe_, serial number
005136, with an overall length of less than 26 inches, and a barrel measuring approximately 10 %2
~inches, and that firearm was not registered to either of them in the National Firearms Registration
and Tran,sfef Record.

In violation of Title 26, United States Code, Sections 5841, 5861(d), and 5871,

.. and Title 18, Um't_ed States Code, Section 2.
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COUNT SEVEN

THE GRAND JURY FURTHEk CﬁARGES THAT:
On of about.October 20, 2015, in Philadelphia, in the Eastern Distriet of
. Pennsylvania, defendant | o
SEKOU MARIEK DAVENPORT,

having been coavieted in a court of the Commonv\;ealth of Pennsylvania of a crime punishable
by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year, knowingly posseseed in and affeeting interstate
commerce a firearm, that s, (1) a Springﬁeld, Model XD-9, 9mm caliber semiautomatic pistoi,
serial number XD141550 and (2) a Beretta, Model ?0,_7.65. cal iber semiautomatic pistol, serial -
number A199435.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 922(2)(1).
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COUNT EIGHT

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:
On or about August 24,2015, in Philédelphia, in the Eastern District of
Pennsylvania, defendant | |

OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT,
' a/k/al “0,”

havinébeeh convicted m a court of the Commonwéalth of Pé_:nnsylvanja of a crime punishable -
-by imprisonment -for- a term exceeding one year; knowingly possessed in and affecting interstate _
commerce a firearm, that is, (1) -a Romarm!Cﬁgir, Model: WASR 10;’63KR, 7.62-x39mm caliber
rifle, serial number RG9413, (2) a Smith & wesso}l, Model: SW4OVE, 40 caliber pistol,. serial
number DSP3306, (3) a Ruger, Model: P94_DA0, 9mm pistol, serial number 308-22001, loaded
With one live 9mm round in the chamber and four lii_re 9mm rounds in the mégazine,'(4).a Glock,_
* Model: 23, .40 caliber p-listol, seﬁal number XKGTSS’, aloﬁg with a ﬁﬂe magazine loaded with
nineteen live round:;. of 7.62x39mm cz_-lliber ammunition, eleven 1ifve rounds df 40 caliber
ammunj-ti-on, a-nd ﬁvg: live rounds of 9mm caliber ain_rﬁ-unition,

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 922(g)(1). . .-
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COUNT NINE

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:
On or about January 5, 2016, in Philadelphia, in the Eastern District of
Pénnsylvania, defendant

OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT,
a/k/a/ “0,”‘ o

hav:ing been convicted in a court of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania of a crime punishable
by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year, knowingly possessed in and affectiﬁg interstate
commerce a firearm, that is, an Israeli Military Industries (I.M.1.), UZI Model 45, 9mm caliber
rifle, serial number 00.5 163. |

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 922(g)(1).
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COUNT TEN
THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:
On or about January 12, 2016, in Philadelphia, in the Eastern District of
-Pennsylvania, defendant

OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT,
a/k/al “0,”

having been convicted in a court of the Cbmmonwea_lth of Pennsylvania of a'cﬁrﬁe'pwﬁshable
by hnprisomﬁcnt for a term excéeding one year, knowingly possessed in and affécting interstate
commerce a firearm, that is, -(1)' a Bryco, Model 38, .380 caliber pistol, serial number 1251 666, (2) |
a Hi-Point, Model C, 9mm pistol, _seria] numbel_* P03 1326, 3)a Cdbray,_Model Mac-11, unknown
caliber, obliterated seria] number, and (4) a Norinco, Model SKS, 7.62}(39 caliber ﬁﬂe, serial
number 7031064, |

In violation of Title 18; United States Code, Section 922(g)(1).
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' NOTICE OF FORFEITURE
THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:
As a result of the violations of Title 18, Um'ted States Code, Séetierls 371,
. 922(a)(1)(A), 922(a)(3), 922(g), and 924(n) set forth in this indictment, defendants
DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSON,
a/k/a/ “Dirt,”
a/k/a “Frank White,”
a/k/a “Derrick Thomas,”
OMAR TARIK DAVENPORT,
a/k/a/ “0,”and
SEKOU MALIEK DAVENPORT
shall forfeit to the United States of America the firearms and ammunition involved in the
commission of these offenses, including, but .not limited to:
(1) a Glock, Model 22, 40 caliber semiautomatic pistol, serial number AAHE?SS;_'
2)a Harrington and chhardson Model 733,.32 caliber revolver, serial number BB016378;

(3) a Phoenix Arms Model HP22A, .22 LR caliber semiautomatic pistol, serial number
- 431 3256 :

(4) a Jimenez Arms INC Model J.A. NINE, 9mm semiautomatic plstol serlal number
171712; .

(5)a Taurus Model 82, .38 Special caliber revolver, serial number RA605426;

6) a Jlmenez Arms INC Model J.A. NINE, 9mm sennautomatlc plstol serlal number
193538; S

(7) a Ruger Model Security Six, .357 caliber revolver, serial number 157873606;
(8) an SCCY, Model CPX-2, 9mm semlautomatlc plstol serial number 047066;
(9) a Taurus, Model 66, .357 caliber revolver serial number IC124681;

(10) a Romarm/Cugir, Model WASR 10/63KR, 7.62x39mm caliber rifle, serial.
~ number RG94 131;
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(11) a Smith & Wesson Model SW40VE, .40 caliber semiautomatic plstol senal
' number DSP3306; - :
(12)  aRuger, Model P94DAO, 9mm semiautomatic pistol, serial number 308-22001;
(13) - a Glock, Model 23, .40 caliber semiautomatic pistol, serial number XKG?89;.
(14) a Taurus, Model: PT111, 9mm Pistol, Serial Number TVF11396;
(15) a CZ, Model: CZ75 P-07 Duty, 9mm Pistol Serial Number Bl 15093;
(16) a Smith & Wesson Model: 442, .38 caliber spec:1al revolver Serial Number
DBZ2659;
V) ~ aSmith & Wesson, Model 1905, 38 caliber special revolver Senal Numbel
- 180927,
(18) a High Standard, Model: Double Nine W-100, .22 caliber revolver with an
obliterated serlal number; | .
(19) . aRuger, Model: LC9, 9mm caliber Pistol, serial number 325-54563;
(20) a'l954 Izhevsk, Model: SKS, 7.62x39 caliber rifle, serial number CCCP06418;_
(21)  aSpringfield, Model XD-9, 9mm caliber semlautomatlc pistol, serial number
XD141550; '
(22) a Beretta, Model 70, 7.65 caliber. semiautomatic pistol, serial number A19945;
(23)  aTaurus, Model 627 Tracker, .357 magnum caliber revolver senal number
ZF399729; '
(24) o Intratec,. Model Tec-22, .22 caliber semiautomatic pistol, serial number 062563;
(25) Ia Taurus, Model PT‘140, 40 caliber semiautomatic pistol, serial number
- STG43568;
(26) - a Ruger, Model Mark II, .22 caliber _semiautomatlc pistol, serial number
222-94679.
27 a Bryco, Model 38, .380 caliber pistol, serial number 1251666;
28) a Hi-Point, Model C, 9mm pistol, serial number P031526;
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(29) - aCobray, Model Mac-1 1, unknown caliber, obliterated serial number;

30) a Norinco, Model SKS, 7.62x3 9. caliber rifle, seﬁal number ?;03 1064;
(3 1) an fsraeli Milit__ary Industrit_as._(l-.M.I'.), Model UZI 45, 9mm caliber rifle, seri;l
number 005136; | . "
(32). twehfy-six live rounds of 9mm caliber anmunitibm
(33) six live rounds of .357 magnum caliber ammunition:
(34) rifle fﬁa gazine loaded with 19 live rounds of ?;62x3§mm cﬂiber ammunition;
(35) . eleven live I_‘OllndS of .40 caliber ammunition; and |
(36)  50-round and 30-round 'magazi‘nes for Uzi 9mm rifle.

All pufsuant to Title 23, United States Code, Section 2461(c), and Title 18, United
States Code, Section 924(d).

A TRUE BILL:

FOREPERSON

ZANE DAVID MEMEGER
- United States Attorney
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, IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

TR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

INDICTMENT

- DESIGNATION FORM to be used by counsel to indigate the category of the case for the purpose of
assignment to appropriate calendar. o~

Address of Plaintiff: 615 Chestnut Street, Suite 1250, Philadelphia, PA 19106-4476

Post Office:__Philadelphia County: _Philadelphia

City and State of Defendant: Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

County: | Philadelphia Register number: _N/A

Place of accident, incident, or transaction: ' Eastern District of Pennsylvania
Post Office: Philadelphia ' County: _ Pennsylvania

RELATED CASE, I[F ANY: N/A
Criminal céses are deemed related when the answer to the following question is “yes”.

Does this case involve a defendant or defendants alleged to have participated in the same action
or transaction, or in the same series of acts or transactions, constituting an offense or offenses?

YES/NO: No
Case Number: Judge:
CRIMINAL: (Criminal Category - FOR USE BY U.S. ATTORNEY ONLY)
1. “ Antitrust _
2. c Income Tax and other Tax Prosecutions
3. ¢ Commercial Mail Fraud
4. ~© Controlled Substances
5. : Vlolataons of 18 U.S.C. Chapters 95 and 96 (Sectlons 1951-55 and 1961-68) and Mail

Fraud other than commercial

6. s General Criminal
(U.S. ATTORNEY WILL PLEASE DESIGNATE PARTICULAR CRIME AND STATUTE
CHARGED TO BE VIOLATED AND STATE ANY PREVIOUS CRIMINAL NUMBER FOR
SPEEDY TRIAL ACT TRACKING PURPOSES)

18 U.S.C. § 371 (conspiracy — 1 count); 18 U.S.C. § 922(a)(1)(A) (dealing in firearms without a license — 1 count); 18
U.S.C. § 924(n) (interstate travel in furtherance of dealing in firearms without a license — 3 counts); 26 U.S.C.

§ 5861(d)(possession of an unregistered short-barreled rifle — 1 count); 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(l) (possession of a firearm by a
convicted felon - 4 counts); 18 U.S.C. § 2 (aiding and abetting); Notice of forfeiture

DATE: | -2 \& ,)/l/\fc»g.o 8;7/(,\/@_

Mark S. Miller
Assistant United States Attorney

File No. 2015R00667
U.S. v. DARIEN MONTAE THOMPSON, et. al.



